I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND RULINGS OF LOWER COURT

Assignment of Error: The lower court erred and abused its discretion when it denied Petitioner Clete Pavone's Motion for Summary Judgment and granted Respondent NPML Mortgage Acquisitions, LLC's (hereafter "NPML"), Motion for Summary Judgment by the lower court's Order Granting Defendant NPML Mortgage Acquisitions, LLC, Summary Judgment and Order Denying Plaintiff Clete Pavone Summary Judgment entered October 27, 2020 (hereafter the "Order"). (Appendix at 84).

Ruling of Lower Court: The issue in this appeal is whether the doctrine of "after-acquired title" applies to assignments of deeds of trust. In its *Order* the lower court found, generally, that the doctrine of "after-acquired title" applied to the assignment of deeds of trust. Mr. Pavone's argument before the lower court and his argument herein is, generally, that in West Virginia one may only assign the interest that it possesses at the time of the assignment. In other words, the doctrine of "after-acquired title" applies only to title (or ownership) of real property, and it does not apply to assignments of deeds of trust because such assignments do not involve title (or ownership) of real property.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brief Description of the Facts 1

A brief summary of the case is as follows:

As noted above, the issue in this appeal is whether the doctrine of "after-acquired title" applies to assignments of deeds of trust.

Mr. Pavone purchased real property in Mononogalia County. Unbeknownst to Mr. Pavone, at the time of his purchase of the real estate, the real estate was subject to an unreleased deed of trust related to an earlier loan obtained by the seller to Mr. Pavone. Further, this deed of trust had purportedly been assigned from one company to another to another, ultimately purportedly being assigned to NPML.

¹ Specific reference to the Appendix will be made in the next subsection.

Because the said seller had defaulted on the said loan, NPML attempted to foreclose on Mr. Pavone's real estate pursuant to NPML's purported assigned rights in the deed of trust.

However, the chain of assignments from the original deed of trust to NPML contained a fatal "break" in the chain. Specifically, one of the assignors attempted to assign its interest in the deed of trust BEFORE it had actually been assigned an interest in the deed of trust. By way of example, Mortgage Company B attempted to assign its interest in a deed of trust to Mortgage Company C on January 15, 2021. However, on this date Mortgage Company B had never been assigned the deed of trust. In fact, Mortgage Company A did not assign its interest in the deed of trust to Mortgage Company B until February 15, 2021, a month later. In this scenario, Mortgage Company B attempted to assign an interest in the deed of trust on January 15, 2021 – BEFORE it had actually been assigned the deed of trust, which did not occur until February 15, 2021.

The underlying facts -- and specifically the pertinent assignments related to the deed of trust related to Mr. Pavone's real property -- were not in dispute, and each party filed *Motions for Summary Judgment*. (Appendix at 4 and 44, respectively). Basically, Mr. Pavone argued that the law of assignments provides that one may only assign the interest that one owns and possesses at the time of the assignment. Using the example above, since Mortgage Company B had not been assigned an interest in the deed of trust at the time it attempted to assign its interest to Mortgage Company C, there was no assignment from Mortgage Company B to Mortgage Company C.

NPML argued that the doctrine of after-acquired title cured the break in assignments and, using the example above, that Mortgage Company B's interest in the deed of trust was effectively assigned to Mortgage Company C as soon as Mortgage Company B acquired an interest in the deed of trust from Mortgage Company A a month later.

The lower court's said *Order* held in favor of NPML and against Mr. Pavone and found that the doctrine of "after-acquired title" cured this break in the chain of assignments. (Appendix at 84). In effect, the lower court ruled that NPML had been assigned an interest in the deed of trust in question, clearing the way for NPML to foreclose on Mr. Pavone's real property.

A more detailed summary description of the pertinent facts is as follows:

Patrick Russell purchased real property in Granville by deed dated June 25, 1999. About six months later on December 20, 1999, Mr. Russell obtained a \$20,000 loan from Equity South Mortgage, LLC (hereafter "Equity South Mortgage"). This \$20,000 loan was secured by a deed of trust in Equity South Mortgage's favor on Mr. Russell's property.

Mr. Pavone purchased the property from Mr. Russell on October 21, 2018.

Between the time that Mr. Russell obtained the said \$20,000 loan from Equity South Mortgage in 1999 and Mr. Pavone's purchase of the real property in 2018, Equity South Mortgage's deed of trust was purported assigned time and time again, with NPML being the last purported assignee. However, there was a fatal flaw with one of the first purported assignments, meaning that NPML had never actually received any assigned interest in the original deed of trust.

As a result of Mr. Russell's default on the \$20,000 loan, after Mr. Pavone's had purchased the real property, NPML attempted to foreclose on the property even though NPML had never been assigned the underlying deed of trust. The underlying lawsuit before the law court ensued.

Detailed Description of the Undisputed Facts

The pertinent facts are as follows:

By deed dated June 25, 1999, Patrick Russell purchased real property located at 320 Price Street, Granville, Monongalia County, West Virginia.

On December 20, 1999, Mr. Russell obtained a \$20,000 loan from Equity South Mortgage, LLC (hereafter "Equity South Mortgage"). This \$20,000 loan was secured by a deed of trust on Mr. Russell's real property. (Appendix at 13). It is without dispute that Mr. Russell defaulted on this \$20,000 loan well-prior to Mr. Pavone's purchase of the real property in question.

By Warranty Deed dated October 21, 2018, Mr. Russell conveyed the property to Mr. Pavone. (Appendix at 40). Mr. Pavone was not represented by counsel during this transaction.

As discussed briefly above, Equity South Mortgage's original deed of trust was purportedly assigned many, many times. In fact, there are actually two independent chains of assignments of record in the Office of the Clerk of the County Clerk of Monongalia County, West Virginia, both of which originated from the original Equity South Mortgage deed of trust. The First Chain of Assignments is described below. The Second Chain of Assignments is also described below. The First Chain of Assignments had a clear and unequivocal "break" in the chain. This "break," while fatal to the chain of assignments, is not at issue here. It is without dispute, and NPML will concede, that NPML was never assigned the said deed of trust by virtue of this First Chain of Assignments.

The Second Chain of Assignments consists of assignments (some of which were included in the First Chain of Assignment) recorded in the said Clerk's County in 2019. As you will see,

while both the First and Second Chains of Assignments end with NPML as the purported final assignee, NPML relies only on the Second Chain of Assignments for its contention that it was properly assigned the said deed of trust on Mr. Pavone's real property.

The First Chain of Assignments

For the sake of a complete understanding of the underlying facts, the First Chain of Assignments is as follows:

1. <u>Original Deed of Trust</u>

From: Russell Patrick

To: Equity South Mortgage, LLC, (Delaware)

Limited Liability Company 2604 East 63rd St. Lower Level Brooklyn, NY 11234

Dated: December 20, 1999 Recorded: December 29, 1999 Trust Deed Book 963 at Page 690.

(Appendix at 13).

2. First "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: EFC Mortgage Corporation,

a California corporation

To: Life Bank

Dated: January 7, 2000 Recorded: June 4, 2001

Trust Deed Book 65 at Page 365.

(Appendix at 25).

3. Second "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: Life Bank

To: Franklin Credit Management Corp

6 Harrison St. NY, NY 10013

Dated: August 15, 2005 Recorded: August 22, 2005 Trust Deed Book 89 at Page 287

(Appendix at 26).

4. Third "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: Franklin Credit Management Corp

6 Harrison St. NY, NY 10013

To: Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co., as Trustee for Franklin Credit Trust

Series I

1761 East St. Andrews Place Santa Ana, CA 92705

Dated: February 4, 2009 Recorded: February 9, 2009

Trust Deed Book 103 at Page 676

(Appendix at 27).

5. Fourth "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: Thor Real Estate, LLC, its successors and assigns

c/o Home Servicing, LLC

8641 United Plaza Blvd., Ste 302

Baton Rouge, LA 70809

To: JHJR Investments LLC, its successors and assigns

PO Box 70

Port Neches, Texas 77651

Dated: August 14, 2012 Recorded: August 23, 2012

Trust Deed Book 116 at Page 476

(Appendix at 28).

6. Fifth "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: JHJR Investments LLC, its successors and assigns

PO Box 70

Port Neches, Texas 77651

To: NPML Mortgage Acquisition, LLC, its successors and assigns

1946 Westholme Avenue Los Angeles, CA 90025

Dated: July 15, 2013

Recorded: November 6, 2013

Trust Deed Book 120 at Page 612

(Appendix at 29).

As can be seen above, Equity South Mortgage never assigned its interest in the deed of trust in the First Chain of Assignments. If one were to only review the First Chain of Assignments, one would conclude that Equity South Mortgage still possessed an interest in the said deed of trust.

The Second Chain of Assignments

The Second Chain of Assignments is as follows:

1. <u>Original Deed of Trust</u>

From: Russell Patrick

To: Equity South Mortgage, LLC, (Delaware)

Limited Liability Company 2604 East 63rd St. Lower Level

Brooklyn, NY 11234

Dated: December 20, 1999 Recorded: December 29, 1999 Trust Deed Book 963 at Page 690

(Appendix at 13.)

2. First "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: Equity South Mortgage, LLC, (Delaware)

Limited Liability Company 2604 East 63rd St. Lower Level

Brooklyn, NY 11234

To: EFC Mortgage Corporation,

a California corporation

Dated: January 16, 2000 Recorded: February 7, 2019

Trust Deed Book 139 at Page 140

(Appendix at 34).

3. Second "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: EFC Mortgage Corporation,

a California corporation

To: Life Bank

Dated: January 7, 2000 Recorded: February 11, 2019 Trust Deed Book 139 at Page 351

(Appendix at 35).

4. Third "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: Life Bank

To: Franklin Credit Management Corp

6 Harrison St. NY, NY 10013

Dated: August 15, 2005 Recorded: February 12, 2019 Trust Deed Book 139 at Page 360

(Appendix at 36).

5. Fourth "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: Franklin Credit Management Corp

6 Harrison St. NY, NY 10013

To: Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co., as Trustee for Franklin Credit Trust

Series I

1761 East St. Andrews Place Santa Ana, CA 92705

Dated: February 4, 2009 Recorded: February 13, 2019 Trust Deed Book 139 at Page 361

(Appendix at 37).

6. Fifth "Assignment" of Deed of Trust

From: Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co., as Trustee for Franklin Credit Trust

Series I

1761 East St. Andrews Place

Santa Ana, CA 92705

To: NPML Mortgage Acquisition, LLC, its successors and assigns

1946 Westholme Avenue Los Angeles, CA 90025

Dated: January 3, 2019

Recorded: February 14, 2019 Trust Deed Book 139 at Page 376

(Appendix at 38).

As noted above, NPML asserts that it was a proper assignee to the deed of trust in question based upon the Second Chain of Assignments.

Please note from above that after Equity South Mortgage obtained the original interest in the deed of trust, Equity South Mortgage then assigned its interest in the deed of trust to EFC Mortgage Corporation (hereafter "EFC Mortgage") by assignment document dated January 16,

2000.

In other words, EFC Mortgage (the first assignee) first possessed an interest in the deed of trust on January 16, 2000.

Further, as shown above, EFC Mortgage attempted to assign its interest in the deed of trust to Life Bank by assignment document dated January 7, 2000 – nine (9) days BEFORE it had been assigned the deed of trust from Equity South Mortgage.

In other words, as of January 7, 2000, EFC Mortgage had no interest in the deed of trust. Having no interest in the deed of trust to convey as of January 7, 2000, EFC Mortgage's assignment document dated January 7, 2000, assigned nothing to Life Bank. This is the fatal break in the chain of assignments at issue in this matter. As it stands, the deed of trust remains with EFC Mortgage as it has never assigned its interest in the deed of trust to anyone after it first acquired its interest in the deed of trust on January 16, 2000.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Standard of review

Syllabus Points 1 and 2 of *Smith v. Chestnut Ridge Storage*, LLC (W. Va. 2021) provides:

- 1. "This Court reviews de novo the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court." Syl. Pt. 1, *Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 213 W. Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002).
- 2. "A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral Argument is not necessary pursuant to the criteria in Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

IV. ARGUMENT

Pertinent Law

As noted above, neither the First Chain of Assignments nor the Second Chain of Assignments served to assign NPML any interest in the deed of trust because of the fatal flaws in both Chains of Assignments discussed above.

It is axiomatic that an assignee can only be assigned the interest possessed by the assignor at the time of the assignment. "An assignee stands in the shoes of the assignor and ordinarily obtains only the rights possessed by the assignor at the time of the assignment, and no more." 6A C.J.S. Assignments § 88 (1975).²

In the very recent case of *TD Auto Fin. LLC v. Reynolds* (W. Va. 2020) the Court held: As is universally-recognized:

[A]n assignee acquires no greater right than that possessed by his assignor, and he stands in his shoes; and an assignee takes subject to all defenses and all equities which could have been set up against an instrument in the hands of an assignor at the time of the assignment.

Syl. Pt. 10, Lightner v. Lightner, 146 W.Va. 1024, 124 S.E.2d 355 (1962).

In Aldridge v. Highland Ins. Co. (W. Va. 2016), the Court held that an assignee "steps

² See Song v. Tabba (Cal. App., 2016), Smith v. Cumberland Group, Ltd., 687 A.2d 1167 (Pa. Super. Ct., 1997), Bauer v. Blomfield Company/Holden Joint Venture, 849 P.2d 1365 (Alaska, 1993), United States v. American Nat'l Bank, 443 F.Supp. 167 (N.D.Ill.1977), Massey-Ferguson Credit Corp. v. Brown., 567 P.2d 440 (Mont. 1977), Bauer v. Blomfield Company/Holden Joint Venture, 849 P.2d 1365 (Alaska, 1993).

into the shoes of the assignor and takes the assignment subject to all prior equities between previous parties. His situation is no better than that of the assignor." *Cook v. E. Gas & Fuel Assoc.*, 129 W.Va. 146, 155, 39 S.E.2d 321, 326 (1946).

Other States have held the same:

In *Hobart v. Hale*, 477 N.E.2d 740 (Ill. App. 1985), the Court held:

In any event, the assignee can obtain no greater right or interest than that possessed by the assignor, inasmuch as one cannot convey that which he does not have.

In Todd Hollow Apartments At Deer Mountain, LP v. Homes At Deer Mountain Homeowners Ass'n, Inc., 2015 UT App 190 (Utah App. 2015), the Court held:

It is well established that an assignor cannot assign rights he or she does not have.

In Camco Int'l, Inc. v. Perry R. Bass, Inc., 926 S.W.2d 632, 636 (Tex.App.-Fort Worth 1996, writ denied), the Court held: "One cannot convey a right which one does not have."

The doctrine of "after-acquired title" applies when a person *conveys property by deed* to a second person but has no title to that property, and the conveyor subsequently acquires title to the property. In such a case, the doctrine of "after-acquired title" would give title to the property to the second person. For instance, "A" coveys property by deed to "B" on Monday, even though "A" did not have title at the time of the conveyance. "A" acquires title to the property on Tuesday. Under the doctrine of "after-acquired title" "B" would have title to property on Tuesday, the day "A" acquired title.

Recall above that after Equity South Mortgage obtained the original interest in the deed of trust, Equity South Mortgage assigned its interest in the deed of trust to EFC Mortgage by assignment document dated January 16, 2000.

In other words, EFC Mortgage first possessed an interest in the deed of trust on January 16, 2000.

Further, as shown above, EFC Mortgage attempted to assign its interest in the deed of trust to Life Bank by assignment document dated January 7, 2000 – nine (9) days BEFORE EFC Mortgage had actually been assigned an interest in the deed of trust.

As of January 7, 2000, EFC Mortgage had acquired no interest in the deed of trust. Having no interest in the deed of trust to convey as of January 7, 2000, EFC Mortgage's assignment document dated January 7, 2000, assigned nothing to Life Bank. This is a fatal break in the Second Chain of Assignments. As a result, the deed of trust remains with EFC Mortgage as it has never assigned its interest in the deed of trust since it first acquired its interest on January 16, 2000.

It is anticipated that NPML will argue that under the doctrine of "after-acquired title" that Life Bank obtained an interest in the deed trust on January 16, 2000, by virtue of Equity South Mortgage's assignment to EFC Mortgage by assignment document on that date even though EFC Mortgage had not acquired an interest in the deed of trust when it executed its assignment document in favor of Life Bank on January 7, 2000.

This "after-acquired title" argument fails for two reasons reason. First, the law of assignments in West Virginia makes it clear that one may only assign an interest that it possesses at the time of the assignment. Second, the assignments in question do not purport to assign "title" to the underlying real property. The assignments in question only purport to assign the mortgagor's interest in the deed of trust. The mortgagor's interest is not "title," but instead it is a beneficial interest under the Deed of Trust. This is a very important distinction.

Let's look at how a deed of trust works. A deed of trust involves three parties: 1. The borrower; 2. The lender; and 3. The trustee. The borrower conveys land to a trustee who holds title in trust for a lender as security for credit or a loan to the borrower.

So in a deed of trust the TRUSTEE has title to the property, which the trustee holds in trust. The lender does not have title to the property. Since the lender does not have title to the real property, the lender can never assign title to the real property. Recall, Equity South Mortgage was the original lender and it had an interest in the original deed of trust. However, Equity South Mortgage never had title to the real property.

Could the doctrine of "after-acquired title" apply to a situation where the TRUSTEE acquired title by a later-dated instrument? Yes, because the doctrine of "after-acquired title" pertains to issues of TITLE to the real property. Again, the doctrine of "after-acquired title" applies only to issues of title, not issues of assignments. Again, in West Virginia the law of assignments is clear.

NPML will not argue that it has title or ownership of the real property under the doctrine of "after-acquired title." Instead, NPML will attempt to use the doctrine to "after acquired title" to completely abrogate the well-established West Virginia law of assignments.

For instance, in its *Motion for Summary Judgment* before the lower court, NPML argued:

"The after-acquired title doctrine states that title acquired by a grantor, who previously attempted to convey title to land which the grantor did not in fact own, inures automatically to the benefit of prior grantees."

(Appendix at 44, 50).

So, in this case, who is the grantee that would benefit from the doctrine of "after-acquired title"? The trustee, and certainly not any of the parties to the assignments in question, because

the assignments do not purport to transfer title.

Is NPML the trustee under the deed of trust? No. NPML is only the purported assignee of the lendor's beneficial interest in the deed of trust in the defective Second Chain of Assignments of the mortgagor's (that is, Equity South Mortgage's) interest in the original deed of trust.

In its Motion for Summary Judgment before the lower court NPML argued:

"[T]he after-aquired doctrine states that the January 16, 2000 assignment from Equity South to EFC Mortgage Corporation, who previously attempted to assign the beneficial interest in the Russell DOT to Life Bank which EFC Mortgage Corporation did not in fact own, inures automatically to the benefit of Life Bank."

(Appendix 44, 50-51).

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