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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The central issue in this action is whether Respondent NPML is the property party to foreclose on the Russell DOT. Importantly, the Petitioner has never disputed critical facts in this action as follows:

- The Petitioner is not a bona-fide purchaser for value under West Virginia law.
- The Russell DOT has never been released.
- The Russell DOT is in default.
- The Russell DOT, as shown above, has been assigned to Respondent NPML.

Instead, the Petitioner's simplistically, and erroneously, argues that because the initial holder, Equity South Mortgage, assigned its interest in the Russell DOT to EFC Mortgage Corporation by Assignment dated January 16, 2000, and EFC Mortgage Corporation assigned its interest in the deed of trust to Life Bank by Assignment dated January 7, 2000 – 9 days earlier, the whole assignment chain is invalid and NPML is not entitled to foreclose under the DOT. Under Petitioner's theory, someone is entitled to foreclose, presumably EFC Mortgage, but Respondent NPML is not.

First, the Plaintiff is not a bona fide purchaser for value under West Virginia law. See *Kyger v. Depue*, Syl. Pt. 1, 6 W.Va. 288 (1873) ("A bona fide purchaser is one who actually purchases in good faith."); *Pocahontas Tanning Co. v. St. Lawrence Boom & Manufacturing Co.*,

Syl. Pt. 1, 63 W.Va. 685, 60 S.E. 890 (1908) ("Whatever is sufficient to direct the attention of a purchaser to prior rights and equities of third parties, so as to put him on inquiry into ascertaining their nature, will operate as notice."). The Russell DOT was recorded and unreleased. Petitioner either had a title search completed and ignored the Russell DOT or should have had a title search completed. Black letter law provides that "an instrument properly made of record is notice to the world not only of the facts and claims therein expressly set forth, but also of all other material facts which an inquiry thereby reasonably suggested would have developed." *Loser v. Plainfield Sav. Bank*, 149 Iowa 672, 676, 128 N.W. 1101, 1103 (1910); 54A Am. Jur. 2d *Mortgages* § 263 ('A properly recorded mortgage is notice to all subsequent purchasers that they take subject to any lien the mortgagor may have on the property whether the record has been examined or not.").

In juxtaposition to Petitioner's argument, West Virginia law does not require assignments of deeds of trust to be recorded. This Honorable Court recently examined this issue finding that,

The import of those statutes is that a party assigning a trust deed or mortgage, or receiving an assignment, is under no statutory duty to record the assignment in the office of the county clerk. Recording a trust deed assignment is not mandatory. The assignment is valid among the parties thereto, without any failure of the security, represented by the underlying trust deed or mortgage, for payment of the promissory note.

State ex rel. U. S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. McGraw, 234 W. Va. 687, 693, 769 S.E.2d 476, 482 (2015). See also 55 Am. Jur. 2d Mortgages § 924 (2009) ("The assignment of a note and mortgage does not need to be recorded to be valid."). Instead, all that is required to properly foreclose is that the foreclosing party produce and record assignment showing that the foreclosing party is the proper party to foreclose. See Bambas v. CitiMortgage, Inc., 577 Fed. Appx. 461, 468 (6th Cir. 2014) ("There appears to be no compelling reason to require that the recordings be chronological before

the foreclosure can proceed, as long as the chain is complete and the rightful holder of the mortgage can be discerned from the public record.").

The Petitioner's central argument is that West Virginia law of assignments voids the assignments because Equity South Mortgage assigned its interest in the deed of trust to EFC Mortgage Corporation by Assignment dated January 16, 2000, and EFC Mortgage Corporation assigned its interest in the deed of trust to Life Bank by Assignment dated January 7, 2000 - 9 days earlier. This argument is erroneous.

First, the Russell DOT existed at the time of all of the assignments at issue in this action. Petitioner conflates the law of assignment about whether something exists with whether a right or chose of action that comes into being can be assigned. Since the Russell DOT existed and was recorded at the time of all of the assignments in this action, black letter law provides the answer and states that "an assignment does not fail merely because the rights assigned are not ripe at the time of assignment. Thus, an assignment may properly relate to a future right which is adequately identified. Accordingly, an expectancy can be a conveyable interest." 6 Am Jur 2d *Assignments* § 12. Moreover, West Virginia has long recognized equitable assignments. *See First Nat'l Bank of Wellsburg v. Kimberlands*, 16 W. Va. 555 (1880). *See also* 13A M.J., *Mortgages and Deeds of Trust* § 19.

Even if West Virginia law did not recognize equitable assignments, the doctrine of after-acquired title operates to vest beneficial ownership of the Russell DOT in Respondent NPML. "The after-acquired title doctrine states that title acquired by a grantor, who previously attempted to convey title to land which the grantor did not in fact own, inures automatically to the benefit of prior grantees." 9 *Thompson on Real Property*, Thomas Editions § 82.11 (2020). At least two

appellate courts have examined the issue presented in this appeal and found that assignments recorded out of date are subject to the after acquired title doctrine and foreclosure was appropriate. *See Shepard v. CitiMortgage, Inc.*, No. 4:12CV00129 ERW, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84054, (E.D. Mo. June 18, 2012); *Bambas v. CitiMortgage, Inc.*, 577 Fed. Appx. 461 (6th Cir 2014). The Circuit Court was correct in ruling that Respondent NPML was the proper party to foreclose on the Russell DOT. As such, the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment to Respondent NPML should be affirmed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Respondent requests oral argument pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 20(a) in that this action presents an issue of first impression and it involves a case of fundamental public importance.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*." *Cunningham v. Herbert J. Thomas Mem. Hosp. Ass'n*, 2012 W. Va. LEXIS 867, *10 (2012). "In conducting this *de novo* review, we recognize that,

'[a] motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.'

Cunningham, 2012 W. Va. LEXIS 867 at *10-11 (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963); Syl. Pt. 1, Andrick v. Town of Buckhannon, 187 W. Va. 706, 421 S.E.2d 247 (1992)). Furthermore,

'[s]ummary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove.

Cunningham, 2012 W. Va. LEXIS 867 at *11 (quoting Syl. pt. 4, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)). "Finally, we note that '[t]he circuit court's function at the summary judgment stage is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but is to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial." Cunningham, 2012 W. Va. LEXIS 867 at *11 (quoting Syl. pt. 3, Painter, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755). In addition, the West Virginia Supreme Court has provided guidance on what constitutes a genuine issue of material fact writing,

Roughly stated, a "genuine issue" for purposes of West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) is simply one half of a trialworthy issue, and a genuine issue does not arise unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that party. The opposing half of a trialworthy issue is present where the non-moving party can point to one or more disputed "material" facts. A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law.

Jividen v. Law, Syl. pt. 5, 194 W. Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995).

B. The Petitioner is not a bona-fide purchaser under West Virginia law.

Initially, the Petitioner is not a bona fide purchaser for value under West Virginia law. See *Kyger v. Depue*, Syl. Pt. 1, 6 W.Va. 288 (1873) ("A bona fide purchaser is one who actually purchases in good faith."); *Pocahontas Tanning Co. v. St. Lawrence Boom & Manufacturing Co.*, Syl. Pt. 1, 63 W.Va. 685, 60 S.E. 890 (1908) ("Whatever is sufficient to direct the attention of a purchaser to prior rights and equities of third parties, so as to put him on inquiry into ascertaining their nature, will operate as notice."). The Russell DOT was recorded and unreleased. Petitioner either had a title search completed and ignored the Russell DOT or should have had a title search completed. Black letter law provides that "an instrument properly made of record is notice to the world not only of the facts and claims therein expressly set forth, but also of all other material facts

which an inquiry thereby reasonably suggested would have developed." Loser v. Plainfield Sav. Bank, 149 Iowa 672, 676, 128 N.W. 1101, 1103 (1910); 54A Am. Jur. 2d Mortgages § 263 ('A properly recorded mortgage is notice to all subsequent purchasers that they take subject to any lien the mortgagor may have on the property whether the record has been examined or not."). Since the Russell DOT was of record in the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission of Monongalia County, the Petitioner cannot claim that he is an innocent purchaser and cannot gain the protections of this status.

C. The Circuit Court order finding that Respondent is the proper party to foreclose should be affirmed because the Petitioner misapplies the law of assignments.

The Petitioner's argument fails because the Petitioner misapplies the law of assignments. Citing law providing that an assignee "steps into the shoes of the assignor and takes the assignment subject to all prior equities between previous parties. His situation is no better than that of the assignor," *Aldridge v. Highland Ins. Co.*, No. 15-0658, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 538, at *11 (June 17, 2016) and "an assignor cannot assign rights he or she does not have", *Todd Hollow Apartments at Deer Mountain, LP v. Homes at Deer Mountain Homeowners Ass'n Inc.*, 2015 UT App. 190 (2015), the Petitioner erroneously argues that the since EFC Mortgage assigned its interest in the Russell DOT nine (9) days prior to receiving the assignment from Equity South Mortgage, the EFC Assignment, and thus all the assignments after this assignment are null and void. Accordingly, under Petitioner's theory, EFC Mortgage remains the only party entitle to foreclose. This overly simplistic argument fails to analyze or address West Virginia Code on security interests and black letter law regarding assignments.

West Virginia Code Section 46-9-204 expressly provides that "a security agreement may create or provide for a security interest in after-acquired collateral." Article 9 applies to both a security interest in a mortgage note to secure an obligation and to the rights of a buyer of a

promissory note of a mortgage or deed of trust. West Virginia Code §§ 46-9-109(a)(1) and (3). Thus, pursuant to these provisions of West Virginia Code, the assignment from Equity South Mortgage to EFC Mortgage inured to the benefit of Life Bank and the Circuit Court correctly granted summary judgment to the Respondent.

Even if this section of West Virginia Code did not exist, the assignments are not invalid.

As to assignments, succinctly stated,

Under the common law, in order for a right or interest to be assignable, it must have, at the time of the purported assignment, either an actual or a potential existence; a mere possibility is not assignable. However, an assignment does not fail merely because the rights assigned are not ripe at the time of assignment. Thus, an assignment may properly relate to a future right which is adequately identified. Accordingly, an expectancy can be a conveyable interest.

6 Am Jur 2d Assignments § 12. See also First Nat'l Bank of Wellsburg v. Kimberlands, 16 W. Va. 592 (1880); Hansel v. Hartford-Connecticut Tr. Co., 133 Conn. 181, 189, 49 A.2d 666, 671 (1946) ("An assignment to be effective must transfer some chose in action or thing which actually or potentially exists as a specific entity or some definite part thereof."); Leon v. Martinez, 84 N.Y.2d 83, 88 n.1, 614 N.Y.S.2d 972, 974, 638 N.E.2d 511, 513 (1994) ("An assignment may properly relate to a future or conditional right which is adequately identified"); Parker v. Blackmon, 553 S.W.2d 623, 624 (Tex. 1977) ("[T]he effective conveyance of . . . an expectant interest is clearly permissible."); Restat 2d of Contracts, § 321 ("The conceptual difficulty posed by transfer of a right which does not exist can be met by giving effect to the attempted transfer when the right later arises. . . . A is negotiating to sell to B property part of which is subject to a mortgage from A to C. In consideration of C's release of the mortgage, A assigns to C a payment to be made by B. Later the same day A and B sign a contract to sell the property which provides for the payment expected. Notwithstanding the lack of a continuing business relationship, the assignment to C is effective when the contract to sell is made."); Restat 2d of Trusts, § 86 (2012) ("although a person

who has a mere expectancy has no interest of which he can create a trust, yet he can bind himself by a contract to create a trust or otherwise to dispose of the property if and when he should thereafter acquire it. . . . The mere fact that he purports to create a trust of the property before he acquires it does not preclude a court of equity from enforcing the contract or from compelling him to make a transfer in trust when he subsequently acquires the property, provided that he received fair consideration.")

At the time EFC Mortgage Corporation assigned its interest in the Russell DOT to Life Bank, EFC Mortgage Corporation either had an interest in the Russell DOT or an expectancy in the Russell DOT. Petitioner presented no evidence that EFC Mortgage Corporation did not have a vested right or an expectancy at the time of the January 7, 2000 assignment to Life Bank.

In this case, the Russell DOT was a thing in actual existence at the time of both the EFC Mortgage Corporation to Life Bank Assignment dated January 16, 2000, and EFC Mortgage Corporation assigned its interest in the deed of trust to Life Bank by Assignment dated January 7, 2000. West Virginia has long allowed assignments of choses of action, debts, notes, and even wages. This is not different. There was an existing obligation to repay loan proceeds evidenced by the Russell DOT. Recorded assignments showing that Respondent NPML was the proper party to foreclose were of record in the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission of Monongalia County. Accordingly, the lower court did not err in granting Respondent NPML summary judgment and the lower court's ruling should be affirmed.

D. Even if West Virginia did not recognize assignment of future rights, the lower court was correct in granting Respondent NPML summary judgment based upon the law of equitable assignments.

Even if West Virginia did not recognize assignment of future rights, Respondent NPML was entitled to summary judgment and the lower court was correct in entering summary judgment in Respondent NPML's favor under the doctrine of equitable assignments.

"An assignment for value of a future right, such as money to be acquired in the future, operates as an 'equitable assignment.' Consequently, an equitable assignment does not pass legal title in the right assigned when it is subsequently acquired without some new act of the assignor, but, rather, vests an equitable ownership in the property in the equitable assignee as soon as the property is acquired by the equitable assignor." 2A M.J. *Assignments* § 19 (2020).

Generally speaking, "[i]n equity, a mortgage of property to be acquired is valid and operates as a contract to take effect and attach as soon as the property comes into being." 13A M.J., Mortgages and Deeds of Trust § 19 (emphasis added). "While a mortgage of future-acquired property does not pass any immediate title to such property yet as 'equity considers that done which out to be done' such a mortgage creates an equitable lien which will attach to the subject matter immediately upon its coming into existence and create a valid title therein as against the mortgagor and third parties with notice without any further act on the mortgagee's part." Id (citing Horner-Gaylord Co. v. Fawcett, 50 W. Va. 487, 40 S.E. 564 (1901), overruled on other grounds, 65 W. Va. 355, 64 S.E. 261 (1909) (emphasis added). These situations are called equitable assignments and recognized by West Virginia law.

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